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PREFACE

In order to keep this report within reasonable limits we have de-
seribed the actual progress of the work in the merest outline. It
seemed more important to make known here a representative collec-
tion of the monuments discovered at our three sites, especially as it
will take some years to prepare them for final publication. Moreover,
it seemed unavoidable to discuss the new evidence concerning the
much debated chronology of the early dynastic period.

Our staff was reduced by the appointment of Dr. C. W. McEwan
as acting field director of the Syrian Expedition of the Oriental Insti-
tute, but the functions of the other members remained unchanged,
At Tell Asmar Dr. Jacobsen, assisted by Mr. Harold D. Hill, con-
ducted the work on the town site, and Mr. Lloyd was responsible for
the excavation of the temple of Abu. Mr. Delougaz, assisted as before
by Mr. Darby and also by Count Alexander zu Eltz, was in charge at
" Khafaje; Mr. Loud, assisted by Mr. Charles Altman, condueted the
work at Khorsabad. Mrs. Jacobsen as photographer and Miss G.
Rachel Levy as recorder were enabled to cope with the exceptionally
numerous finds by the assistance of Mrs. Lloyd and Miss M. A.
Chubb, secretary.

Work started late, about December 5, 1933, and was continued at
Tell Asmar and Khafaje until March 17, at Khorsabad until April 15,
1934.

After the closing of camp in the south Dr. and Mrs. Jacobsen and
Mzr. and Mrs. Lloyd spent three weeks at Hines, a hamlet opposite
Bavian on the Gomel River, investigating the head of Sennacherib’s
canal, where it branches from the river. Excavation there threw an
entirely new light on the fallen sculptures at the foot of the well
known inscriptions and rounded off the work of the previous season
on Sennacherib’s aqueduct and canal, a full account of which is in
press at the time of writing.! 'The discovery of an isolated Hittite in-
scription, being unrelated to the subject of that publication, is dis-

cussed here by Dr. Jacobsen.
HeNRI FRANKFORT

TELL ASMAR
January, 1935

L [Published in May, 1935, as OIP Vol. XXIV.—Eb.]
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2 OriENTAL INSTITUTE DiscovERIES IN IrRAQ, 1933/34

weeks had passed, it was decided to discontinue an undertaking
which, though methodically sound, led to none but negative results.
The work had reached a stage from which it could be resumed at any
time in the future; the temple of Abu was, moreover, beginning to
give evidence such as we had looked for in the houses. Consequently
Dr. Jacobsen divided his one hundred and fifty men into small groups
detailed to selected spots on the site in search for E-sikil, the temple
of Tishpak, built by Shulgi? and rebuilt by Bilalama.?

To our astonishment this search has remained fruitless, though in
the course of the season a very considerable part of the site was drawn
into our network of soundings. It is a disquieting thought that the
low hillocks at Tell Asmar emerge from a sea of silt and sand which
is several meters deep and which may at almost any point cover ruins
of which no surface indication remains. For it has now become almost
impossible to maintain that E-gikil stood anywhere near the center of
the town. .
 Our search revealed incidentally that the city extended in Ak-
kadian times much farther south than we had expected. Of the small
objects discovered in the Akkadian houses, the most interesting is
probably a fragment of a clay tablet which shows on either side the -
carefully drawn plan of a building (Fig. 2).

Remains of the Larsa period were found north as well as south of
the palace of the rulers.* A building construeted by Naramsin, son
of Ibig-Adad I, is the most notable of these remaing (Figs. 3-4). It
lies immediately north of the palace of the rulers and is built actually
against the palace inclosure constructed by Urninmar. The three
sides of the new building which stood free are elaborately ornamented
with recessed niches; yet the plan does not fit a temple, though a
small shrine (3 P 27) appears on the palace side. A fragment of the
curved top of a commemorative stela was found in the soil; it con-
tained part of a sun disk in relief and probably showed the god Tish-
pak.’ The plan of the building (Fig. 3) shows several remarkable

2 Thorkild Jacobsen, Philclogical Notes on Eshnunna and Its Inscriptions
(““Assyriological Studies,” No. 6 [Chicago, 1934]) pp. 20-28.

30IC No. 13, p. 45.

40IC No. 16, pp. 1-29.

§ Cf. OIC No. 13, Fig. 14 and p. 42.
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TerL AsMarR: THE TEMPLE OF ABU 7

context, since it turned up in surface soil. It belongs, however, almost
certainly to the Larsa period. It is a squatting figure of a nude
woman wearing a multiple necklace and rendered in a remarkably
free asymmetrical pose. It may have served as the handle of a bronze
vessel. At the back there is a horizontal ridge, and three rivets for
fastening it to another object are still to be seen beneath the feet.

Tue TeEMPLE OF ABU

In the previous season (1932/33) we had uncovered an Akkadian
and an early dynastic version of the temple of Abu, both built on the
same plan with minor differences.” This year we went down for an-
other meter in this latest phase of the early dynastic building and
found several pieces of sculpture, very much damaged but of great
importance for dating purposes. Most of these were buried in the
open space to the north in front of the temple, but some were found in
" the filling separating two suecessive floors of the building itself. Very
instructive was the discovery of a plaque (Fig. 6), one half of which
was found within the sanctuary and the other in the forecourt (note
difference in state of preservation), thus enabling us to check the re-
lationship of levels inside and outside the temple.

We call the building just discussed the ‘‘Single-Shrine Temple” to
distinguish it from earlier buildings, which, however, might equally
well be considered earlier stages in the history of the same sanctuary,
the whole series being dedicated to Abu,’ the god of fertility. Since,
however, the more important echanges of plan which we can distinguish
in its long history seem to correspond with echanges in contemporary
civilization as a whole, it is advisable to use distinctive names for the
successive stages of the sanctuary. Its latest phase, the Single-Shrine
Temple, existed as we have seen with minor changes from early
dynastic into Akkadian times and probably up to the very end of
Sargon’s dynasty.

Underneath its foundations a new alignment of walls appeared (Fig.
7). This earlier stage, which we call the “Square Temple,” is shown in

" OIC No. 17, pp. 40-46.

s M. Thureau-Dangin in Revue d’assyriologie XXXII (1935) 150 suggests the
reading Abbu.



oi.uchicago.edu



oi.uchicago.edu



0i.uchicago.edu



=

SNECTION

en—

oi.uchicago.edu

L

SHRINET

PRIESTY ROOM

CENTRAL ROOM

o

NIl

mzn.'rk)

r
z
m

ABLUTION
"LoOoM

SHRLINE I g
S
II
ENTLANCE
1 [s] 5 10

Fi1a. 9—Plan of the Square Temple. Scale, 1:200



oi.uchicago.edu



oi.uchicago.edu

TeLL Asmar: Tae TEMPLE oF ABU 13

Khafaje, moreover, similar bases occur in the open not only in the
terple oval but also in the central court of the temple of Sin (see
Fig. 45). They may conceivably have served as offering-tables. In
Shrine II beside the altar a hoard of twelve wonderfully preserved
statues (see pp. 55-64) was found (Fig. 11). Deepest in the hole in
which they had been carefully placed were one of the great mother
goddess and one of the god of fertility (Fig. 12). In Shrine I1I only a
fragmentary stone head of exceptional size (10 cm. in diameter) was
found. :

A remarkable feature of this Square Temple is the kisu or retaining
wall (Figs. 9 and 13) on the east, north, and part of the west side, where
it does not touch other buildings. It shows the early origin of many
such devices.? ‘

To continue our outline account of the excavations, at this point
it was discovered that the Square Temple was not actually founded
according to the plan we have just described. For a very short period
it had existed with a single shrine, underneath Shrine I, the entrance
into which from an open court (where the central room stood later)
was ornamented with a pair of small buttresses. Thus the last phase
of the Abu sanctuary (the Single-Shrine Temple of late early dynastic
and Akkadian times) had reverted to a plan which had been in
existence before the more elaborate Square Temple was founded.

Underneath the central room of the Square Temple we found re-
mains of a yet earlier stage of the building. This again possessed one
principal shrine (Fig. 14), with a pedestal built against the eastern wall,
the only orientation not utilized in the later shrines. Another, smaller
shrine was found in the northwest corner. This building, which we call
the “Archaic Shrine,” is not yet sufficiently explored to enable us to
give a plan or to describe it in detail. It is, however, certain that it is
built of plano-convex bricks, so that the remains of buildings of that
material here reach a depth of more than 6 meters.

It is important for purposes of dating and ecomparison to give the
reader an idea of the pottery found in the successive stages of the
temple of Abu. In the Single-Shrine Temple we found besides a ritual
vase with two spouts some “Rillentopfe,” such as are well known

# See OIC No. 16, Figs. 3 and 6.
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TeLL AsMar: Tue TEMPLE oF ABU , 21

meters below the deepest level reached in the temple and found poly-
chrome Jemdet Nasr pottery predominating.

From the shaft in the house area we obtained, moreover, one sherd
(Fig. 20) of an intrusive northern fabric, called “Ninevite 5’ by Mal-
lowan in his work at Nineveh!? and ‘“‘chalice ware” by Speiser in his
work at Tepe Gawra and Tell Billah.!® Unfortunately the head of the
goat is lost, but the design and the glossy mauve paint are unmistak-

Fra. 20.—A sherd of “Ninevite 5 ware. Scale, 1:2

able. It is interesting to find this sherd in a context of known southern
wares such as the reserved-slip ware and the goblets. Immediately
underneath we get a predominance of Jemdet Nasr pottery and a
little lower still a semi-pictographic tablet, so that “Ninevite 5’ seems
to be contemporaneous with the earliest part of the early dynastic
period. ' ‘

The shaft north of the temple produced two objects worth mention-
ing at the level of our Square Temple. One is a bowl of pinkish white,
close-grained limestone (Fig. 21), with a design for which I do not
know a parallel. The other (Fig. 22) is an exceptionally fine amulet

12 Annals of Archaeology and Anthropology XX (1933) 127-33 and 170-75.
18 Museum Journal XXIII (1933) 265-67.
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11
KHAFAJE

TrE TeMPLE OvaAL

In this, our fourth season, the investigation of the Temple Oval® was
concluded, and we now possess such detailed information that a com-
plete reconstruction containing very little hypothetical matter has
been drawn by Mr. Darby. It will appear in the final publication,
which is being prepared for press at the time of writing. We sum-
marize the results below.

The Oval is founded on a thick bed of sand; we descended over 8
meters below the surface in two shafts without reaching its lower limit.
Yet there is no question of a natural deposit, since at no point where
we penetrated to this depth outside the Oval was sand found, and in
fact the huge pit exeavated by the ancient builders had cut through
older walls of plano-convex bricks, the remains of which are still
extant. Thus we found that the site had been prepared for the con-
struction of the sanctuary by truly gigantic labors. The Oval covers
an area of more than three-quarters of an acre, so that the excavation
and the filling of clean sandy soil subsequently brought there represent
a volume of not less than 64,000 cubic meters, the equivalent of 63
" million basket loads as soil is earried nowadays. The plan of the
foundations built upon this sand conformed almost entirely to that
of the walls which they supported, but the space inclosed by the
foundations was filled to a height of about 1.20 meters with lumps of
clay and crude plano-convex bricks to form an artificial platform.

The plan appears at all times to have comprised two- inclosure
walls and also House D, the latter having originally been accessible
from the court between the outer and inner gates of the Oval. Later
this entrance was blocked and a new one made, accessible from the
town. )

The outer inclosure wall was found to have been originally a com-
paratively thin wall without buttresses (Fig. 35). These appear in the

10IC No. 16, pp. 62 ff.
32
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54 OrIENTAL INsTITUTE DIscOvERIES IN IRAQ, 1933/34

bringing of food and drink rendered more realistically; one of the
bearers of a large vessel containing wine or beer carries a straw ring
upon which the pointed vessel is to stand. Other figures follow with a
kid, a pile of loaves, and a basket of fruit or vegetables, perhaps
onions, In the bottom register a figure with crossed arms executes a
kind of “hornpipe”’ to the tune of a lute or harp. One wonders whether
the missing lower right-hand corner showed further festivities or a
chariot scene such as is depicted on a plaque found in our first season
at Khafaje,” also on a fragment from Ur,'° and now again on a frag-
ment from the temple of Sin (Fig. 59). Two other relief fragments
(Fig. 60) are important because their boating scenes recur on frag-
ments from Fara.!

Finally attention must be drawn to a number of small objects,
pierced for the most part, the purpose of which is not clear, but which
excel in the vigorous characterization of animals, represented in bold
simplified forms (Figs. 61-62).

9 0IC No. 13, Fig. 44. 10 Ibid. Pig. 45.
1t Heinrich, Fara, P1. 21,
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SCULPTURE IN THE ROUND FROM
TELL ASMAR AND KHAFAJE

In this preliminary report we can in'no way do justice to the im-
portance of the early dynastic sculptureé discovered during the season
of 1933/34. They outnumber the total of all previously known con-
temporaneous works, Moreover, the Tell Asmar hoard of twelve exeel-
lently preserved statues (Fig. 63; ef. Figs. 64-72) contains the first
cult statues found in Mesopotamian excavations (front.).! When the
statues were taken out of service and hidden under the floor of the
Square Temple (see p. 13), the two cult statues, as the most important,
were put into the hole first (see Fig. 12), and the others were carefully
piled upon them.

The largest statue (Fig. 64) is identified by the emblems on its
base as the god of fertility, whose several epithets and manifold guises
we have described in a previous report'® on the evidence supplied by
our cylinder seals and other monuments. We may therefore confine
ourselves here to stressing the support which our argument receives
now that we find the lion-headed eagle Imdugud, symbol of Ningirsu-
Ninurta, appearing together with the animals and plants which be-
long to the lord of the sheepfolds and the lord of vegetation in a
temple which we know, in its higher layers, to be a sanctuary of Abu.
The other cult statue also (Fig. 65) is identified by an addition to its
base, this time the figure (only the legs preserved) of the son of the
mother goddess, fixed in position with bitumen. That same material

1T agree with L. Legrain (in Revue d’assyriologie XXXII 118 ff.) that the female
figure recently found near Abu Kemal cannot be considered a representation of
Ishtar, but that the two cult figures from Tell Asmar are in a class by themselves,
possessing a number of exceptional features which can only be explained on the
assumption that they render gods. This matter will be fully discussed in the au-
thor’s forthcoming OIP entitled Sculpture of the Third Millenniwum B.C. from Tell

Asmar and Khafaje. See also his contribution to the Deimel Festschrift (Analecta
orientalia, No. 12 [Roma, 1935)).

s OIC No. 17, pp. 47-55.
55
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ScuLpTURE FROM TELL AsMaRrR AND KHAFAJE 59

was used in these statues to color the beard and hair; the stone itself
is a kind of veined gypsum which is certainly found in the hills near
Tuz Khurmatli, less than 100 miles north of Tell Asmar, and probably
nearer by in the eastern foothills.

These cult statues are distinguished from the rest, which represent
worshipers, not only by the indications of their identity already de-
seribed, but also by the exceptional size of their eyes, which consist
of disks of black limestone set with bitumen into eyeballs cut from
shell, The childish effect of this convention which the photographs
may suggest is not felt in the presence of the originals. The statue of
the god is especially impressive, carved with a religious fervor which
finds its aesthetic correlation in the tautness of the surfaces and the
tense composition of the sharply articulated masses. It is frue, how-
ever, that a similar expressiveness is found in the statue of a priest
(TFig. 66), whose devout expectancy is imitated but not equaled by
some of the lay worshipers (Figs. 67-69). The well known gesture of
clasped hands with which the Sumerian'appeared before his god is in
some cases modified. The worshiper in Figure 68 holds a cup, as do
the god and goddess (see front.). This reminds one of the plagues
(Figs. 6 and 58) and, on the other hand, of the Gudea texts, according
to which the union of the god and goddess took place on New Year’s
Day? and was followed by a great feast.?

An entirely different type of figure, made of golden alabaster, is
shown in Figure 70. It is the only one of which parts were missing;
the right half of the body and the hands were modeled by Miss Chubb
for the purpose of photography. The fact that it had anciently been
broken and repaired explains the awkward line of the side view, since
the parts do not fit well; but the back view especially shows the excep-
tional quality of the modeling. This figure, nude but for a multiple
girdle and wearing a heavy turban, formed some piece of temple furni-
ture. The headdress is hollow (resembling in fact a modern candle-
stick), and at the back of the girdle are inserted two small copper loops
by which the statue could be fastened. It seems to represent one of
those semidivine beings which are pictured on cylinder seals strug-
gling with beasts; and it would be understandable that utensils placed
before the gods might be differentiated from figures of worshipers by

2 Statue G iii 5. 8 Cylinder B v 11 ff. and xvii 1 ff.
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THE CHRONOLOGY OF THE EARLY
DYNASTIC PERIOD

If we exclude the uppermost layer of the temple of Abu at Tell
Asmar, all our dlscoverles belong to the early dynastic period. Tt re-
mains, then, to consider to what extent the subdivisions which appear
to exist in the history of our buildings‘ have any general historical
significance. In the temple of Abu we have descended through twenty
levels of occupation, which fall naturally into three groups: the Ar—
chaic Shrine, the Square Temple, and the Slngle Shrine Temple (see
Flg 89! and folding ‘plate at end). 'While the successive floor levels
or levels of oceupation mark the regular and periodical overhauls and
reconstructions which™ all buildings of sun-dried brick require, the
three phases to which-we have given names are each distinguished by
a complete change of plan. This did not alter the character of the
worship to which the sanctuary was dedicated, for we have pomted
out already (pp. THL.) the snnﬂarlty in the appomtments of the sue-
cessive shrines and the’ unchanged identity of the object.of worship,
the god of fertility, as revealed by the monuments. But for this very
reason one is inclined to attribute the chianges of plan to general causes
affecting contemporary civilization as a whole. And the changes in
plan ‘coincide in fact with the changes in style of a good proportion
of the objects found in the buildings.

The Archaic Shrine we must leave out of account in the present re-
port, since it is not yet completely excavated. At the other-end of the
series, it is difficult to date the foundation of the Single-Shrine Temple
built of flat rectangular bricks. We know that the highest floor level
but one falls within the dynasty of Akkad, because of some pottery
and the Hydra seal? found there. On the floor below was found an
unusual plaque? which may be either Akkadian or early dynastic.

1 The period represented in this key plan is that of the Akkadian Single-Shrine
Temple; cf. OIC No. 17, Fig. 20.

2 Jtnd. Fig. 43. 3 Ibid. Fig. 39.-

79
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Since at Lagash flat bricks displaced plano-convex bricks in the reign
of Entemena, some eighty years before Sargon’s accession, it is im-
possible to say at present whether the Single-Shrine Temple at Tell
Asmar was rebuilt of flat bricks in Akkadian or in late early dynastic

—

F1c. 89.—Key plan showing location of section through temple of Abu and
palace at Tell Asmar as g'iyen in folding plate at end. Scale, 1:400.

times. Were it not for the evidence from Lagash, however, we should
judge the introduction of flat bricks to coincide with the advent of
Sargon’s dynasty. For in the private houses we find plano-convex
bricks used throughout Stratum V, which contains early dynastie
objects, while the deepest stratum with rectangular bricks, IVb, pro-
duced consistently seals, pottery, ete. of Sargonid type.*

4 Cf. 1bid. pp. 2-4.
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But with the plano-convex section of the Single-Shrine Temple we
reach firmer ground. It is certainly approximately contemporaneous
with the royal cemetery at Ur, whereas the Square Temple underneath
it belongs to an earlier part of the early dynastic period which is not
properly represented at Ur at all; for during this time there accumu-
lated the rubbish heaps into which the royal tombs were subsequently
dug. Thisisshown by the presence in the Square Temple of reserved-
slip ware such as is, in Mr. Woolley’s words, “strange to the cemetery”
at Ur, but appears in the rubbish layers underneath, and of goblets
(see p. 18) such as oceur at Ur in a still earlier stratum. Moreover, a
hoard of copper objects® found under the Akkadiank palace at Tell
Asmar and containing the same types as oceur in the tombs at Ur be-
longs certainly to the period of the Single-Shrine Temple (cf. fold-
ing plate at end). '

The Akkadian palace is seen to rest partly on the walls of an earlier
palace of plano-convex bricks, partly on a thin layer of ashes which
marks a fire that oecurred in the last part of the early dynastic occu- -
pation but affected only the northern and northwestern part of the
building. To the main oceupation level of this earlier palace belongs
the large pot which contained the copper hoard. That earlier palace
level corresponds with the main occupation level in the plano-convex
section of the Single-Shrine Temple, though when expressed in meters
above sea-level there is a considerable difference between the two;
but occupation levels run rarely, if ever, horizontal. In fact, we
know that the temple stood at that time higher than the surrounding
houses and palaces. The difference in elevation at the time of the .
change from plano-convex to rectangular bricks was about a meter
(see plate at end). It would have complicated our section to give in
full the slope through the intervening space, oceupied by small and
often-renewed subsidiary buildings. Figure 90 serves the same pur-
pose more effectively. We are there looking from the west toward the
outer corner of room 19 E 16 (see Fig. 89). The men in the foreground
are descending through the foundations of the Square Temple into
the Archaic Shrine.® Higher up, the man who is looking to the right is

5 Ibid. pp. 37-39 and Figs. 31-32 and 34-35. o

8 The Square Temple extends farther north than does the Single-Shriné Temple
shown in Fig. 89.
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actually standing on the floor of the room (below the level of 19 E 16)7
where the copper hoard was found. At the top of the picture, a man
is standing on an Akkadian floor, resting his pick against a wall of
the third dynasty of Ur (stippled in plate, toward the right).

As indicated on page 81, we can distinguish in the early dynastic
period at least an earlier and a later phase. To the latter belong the
royal cemetery at Ur and our Single-Shrine Temple, to the earlier our
Square Temple with its remarkable statues. Not only does the pottery
confirm this division, but the same can be said of the beads (see Fig.
29 and p. 31) found in Shrine I of the Square Temple. Such beads do
not seem to oceur at Ur.at all, but at Khafaje some turned up in a
tomb in the Temple Oval.® And since we have also found at Khafaje
certain statues resembling those buried in the Square Temple at Tell
Asmar, we must consider the stratigraphy of our other site somewhat
more in detail. '

At Khafaje we have to take into account three groups of remains:
the Temple Oval; private houses and tombs dug into their ruins north
and east of the Oval;? and finally the temple of Sin, which is situated
east of the Oval. Of the houses we know only two or three of the upper-
most strata; the Temple Oval and the temple of Sin are each known to
us in three successive stages of their existence. Though we do not
know whether we have yet struck the deepest layers of the temple of
Sin, we have actually excavated the Oval down to its foundations.
We have seen (p. 37) that the period in which it was founded cannot
have been very far removed from the Jemdet Nasr period. Unfortu-
nately hardly any objects were found in these deepest layers.

To the middle period of the Oval belong several sculptures in the
realistic style which we have found at Tell Asmar associated with the
Single-Shrine Temple. In the temple of Sin also most of the sculpture
belongs to the second stage of its existence; but there we find, as we
have seen (pp. 75 ff.), reminders of the earlier geometric style as well
as examples of the later realistic type of work. One may surmise that
the only reason why the earlier type is not represented in the Oval is
beeause of the total absence of all stonework in its earliest layers, and

70IC No. 17, p. 37. 20IC No. 16, Fig. 48,
9 0IC No. 13, pp. 105-12; OIC No. 17, pp. 63-73.
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we may tentatively synchronize the three stages of the Oval with those
of the temple of Sin. The sculptures would then suggest that the
second stage of both the temple of Sin and the Oval fell within the
later phase of the early dynastic period, as represented by the Single-
Shrine Temple -at Tell Asmar. This correlation is confirmed by the
cireumstances in which the beads resembling those from the (earlier)
Square Temple of Tell Asmar (see Fig. 29) occurred at Khafaje.
They were found in a grave dug after the first stage of the Oval was
completed but before the next building period. They would thus
synchronize the end of the first stage of the Khafaje Oval with the
period of the Square Temple at Tell Asmar.

Since the two parts of the early dynastic period which we can dis-
tinguish by means of the stratification at Tell Asmar each lasted for a
considerable time, we can reach a little more precision by taking into
account material found elsewhere. Unfortunately there is not suf-
ficient stratigraphic evidence to make the discoveries at Lagash and
Fara useful from this point of view; and the excavators at Warka have
purposely avoided entanglements with early dynastic remains, since
the still earlier layers, easily accessible, presented in themselves suf-
ficiently difficult problems. At Kish an unbroken sequence of remains
has been found,!® but no detailed publication of the observations made
there is available. 7

Mr. Woolley’s invaluable work at Ur, however, provides good ma-
terial for comparison. From the first we have been struck by the close
resemblances between our discoveries at Khafaje and those at Ur. It
is now, however, necessary to specify the stratigraphic positions of
objects which show such resemblances. A Khafaje plaque which may

~ be counted as a duplicate of one anciently used at Ur' stands quite
“apart; for our fragment need not be contemporary with the royal
cemetery, since its counterpart at Ur was found loose in the soil and
not in a grave.? We must assume on the strength of our own evidence
that the fragment from Ur belongs to the rubbish heaps of a period

10 8, Langdon in Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 1930, pp. 602 ff. and esp.
Pl. VII; L. Ch. Watelin in L’ Anthropologie XLI (1931) 265-72 and table.

u OIC No. 13, Figs. 44-45.

12, L. Woolley, Ur Excavations I1: The Royal Cemetery (London, 1934) pp
377 and 535, No. U. 8557.
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earlier than the royal cemetery, for all the other objeets from Khafaje .
which resemble those from Ur'3—pottery, beads, tools, weapons, and
seals—were found in the houses and tombs which surround the Oval.
Now these houses are contemporaneous with the latest (third) period
of the Temple Oval, or are even later. Just as they postdate the second
stage of the Oval, they also postdate certainly the second stage of the
temple of Sin, whence most of our statues from that building derive
(ef. p. 42). Moreover, even the statues of the sculptor’s workshop,'
which certainly belong to the late (realistic) style of sculpture, were
found in a layer underneath those in which amulets and pottery
resembling specimens from Ur occurred.
We may summarize our results in the following table:

TrLL AsMAR | Kuarase | Ur
SARGON OF AKKAD

Third Oval, houses,| Royal cemetery
ane graves -
Single-Shrine Temple|. - /
Second Oval Accumulation of
rubbish into
Square Temple which the
cemetery
Archaic Shrine First Oval was dug

JEMDET NASR PERIOD

Tt is interesting to note how well the epigraphic evidence tallies with
this result. High up in the Single-Shrine Temple, at level 35.50 (see
plate), we found a fragment of an inscribed alabaster statue (As.
32-700) which Dr. Jacobsen pronounces to be certainly later than Ur-
Nanshe and probably later than Eannatum, since it uses grammatical .
endings. On the other hand the statue of Urkisal (Fig. 84), found in
the second stage of the temple of Sin, certainly antedates Eannatum.
And the inscriptions on two of the three statues from Abu Kemal

13 See e.g. OIC No. 13, Figs. 51-53."
14 8ee OIC No. 17, p. 73 and Figs. 64-66.
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(ancient Mari), where a civilization exactly similar to that of Khafaje
in the early dynastic period was discovered in the winter of 1933/34
by Parrot,!s are pronounced by Thureau-Dangin to be older than
those of Ur-Nanshe and those from Ur.16

It is only natural that we want to translate this relative chronology
into absolute dates, and we believed for some time that this was pos-
sible. On the western edge of the temple of Abu, above the pedestal
of the latest shrine, remain some walls which are made of post-
Sargonid square bricks (stippled in plate, at upper left). Their level
corresponds with that of similar walls (stippled in plate, at upper
right) found above the Akkadian palace, where we found on the cor-
responding floor a tablet dated to the 38th year of Shulgi.?” Now the .
Akkadian palace was destroyed probably by the Guti, most likely
under Shudurul, the very last king of Sargon’s dynasty; for seal im-
pressions with his name were found by us in the private houses.
Ashes and rubbish, in places more than a meter thick, from the de--
struction of the palace cover the whole site up to but not including the.
walls of the temple of Abu. This suggests that the latter continued to
be used, or at least was not destroyed, when the Guti sacked the seat
of the secular government, the palace. But since there is no reason to
assume that the use of plano-convex bricks was continued at Tell
Asmar after it stopped at Lagash under Entemena (p. 80), we have no
right to identify the first use of rectangular bricks at Tell Asmar with
Sargon’s accession and thus cannot use the known duration of Sar-
gon’s dynasty as a basis of calculation; hence we, like others, have to
be satisfied with guesses. It.seems, then, if we take into. account the
Archaic Shrine as well as the Square Temple and the Single-Shrine
Temple, that the early dynastic period went through three stages, each
of which lasted at least as long as the dynasty of Sargon and probably
a little longer.'®

If we place Sargon’s accession at 2550 B.c., we should date the

15 H, Frankfort and A. Parrot, “Mari et Opis,” Revue d’assyriologie XXXI
(1934) 173-89.

1 Revue d’assyriologre XX XTI 143.

17 Higher up in the mound appeared houses of the Larsa period, in which temple
bricks of Shulgi had been re-used (see OIC No. 16, Fig. 35). There is therefore no
inconsistency in the appearance of Shulgi’s name at more than one level,

18 Cf, depths of deposits shown in plate at end.
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Single-Shrine Temple of plano-convex bricks from 2800 to 2550, the
tombs of Ur falling in the latter half of this period and the second
Temple Oval at Khafaje and the temple at Mari toward its begin-
ning. The Square Temple would fall between 3000 and 2800 s.c., the
Archaic Shrine between 3200 and 3000, and the Jemdet Nasr period
before 3200. These figures, however, may well be too low, and in any
case they remain hypothetical.l?

1 Tn the winter of 1934/85 virgin soil was reached at Tell Asmar in the temple
of Abu and at other points, and a detailed and well corroborated scheme of rela-
tive chronology for the early dynastic period could then be drawn up. This
scheme, first presented by the writer to the 19th International Congress of Orien-
talists, which met at Rome in September, 1935, will be incorporated in the fifth
preliminary report of the Iraq Expedition, which is soon to be ready for press.
The conclusions reached in the present chapter remain valid, except that we are
now sure that the Archaic Shrine at Tell Asmar represents the earliest phase of

‘the early dynastic period and is to be dated between the first stage of the Oval
at Khafaje and the Jemdet Nasr period.
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the fortifications as now revealed; on the left the “battlemented” pat-
tern formed by this wall and its towers is seen running upward and
then to the right to join the town wall, beyond which lies a stream (in
upper right-hand corner), an affluent of the Khosr River.

In the citadel wall, just at left of the modern Mosul road whlch
lies between it and the river, was discovered a gateway ornamented
with perfectly preserved winged bulls and genii (Figs. 102-5). No
impression gained in a museum can convey the magnificence and
majesty of these sculptures as they appear in the setting for which
they were destined; the Iraq Government is attempting to raise funds
for a complete reconstruction of this gateway in its original form.
Figure 103 shows at the back the whitewash on the inside of the arch
of the inner gateway. This led to a road which passed underneath
the stone viaduet connecting the palace and the Nabu temple; access
to the temple hill could be gained at the same spot by means of a
ramp (Fig. 106). The limestone wall behind the ramp is the retaining
wall of the palace hill. '
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Hanusa of Sennacherib’s Jerwan inscription, is situated on the top of
an ancient tell, the stone may well have belonged to some ancient
building now hidden below the spot where it appeared.

The side on which the inscription occurs is neatly polished; the signs
themselves are uneven in form and spacing. Only the end of one line
and the beginning of the next are preserved. Following Hrozny’s read-
ings of the signs, we may transliterate: '

{ ] “‘son”-na-mu-va-jo-s
a-ma-tu~-va-na “land” “king” e-va ja-| ]

These lines are duplicated almost exaetly in the inseriptions of
Hamath and of Restan south of Hamath. We may accordingly re-
store in the first line {amu-me u,™-fi-li-nd é,(2)-td-s] and translate: “[I
am Urhilina,] son [of Etas(?)], king of the land of Hamath. When
thifs . . . .].”"! Instead of “Urhilina, son of Ktas(?),” we might—from
the other Hamath inseriptions—restore ‘‘Irtames(?), son of Urhili-
nas’’; but our inseription corresponds more closely to the inseriptions
of Urhilina than to those of his son. It will be noted that this recon-
struction enables us to judge the original length of the inscription.
The second line, as may be seen from the photograph, was the last line
of the inscription, which covered only the one block; and of the first
line only some nine signs seem to be missing. The insecription there-
fore contained in all probability only the name and genealogy and
title of the king, followed by some reference to the monument to
which the block belonged.

The occurrence at Hines of an insecription of a ruler of Hamath
presents a problem. The known Hamath inscriptions date from some-
what before 800 B.c., and even if our block should belong neither to
Urhilina nor to his son, it must in any case be dated approximately
to their period. In that period, however, a domination by the rulers-
of Hamath over the region around Hines is absolutely out of the
question on general historical grounds. The alternative, that our stone
was brought to Hines in later times from Hamath, is, however, hardly
more probable; for it seems highly unlikely that anybody, least of all

1 See the parallels in B. Hrozny, Les inscriptions hitlites hiéroglyphiques, 2. livr.
(Praha, 1934) pp. 301-2.
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an inhabitant of the poor village of Hines, should have transported a
stone of its size and weight all the way across the Syrian desert. In
addition, the Hamath inscriptions were cut in basalt, whereas our
stone is of reddish hue and resembles red granite. We noticed stone
of this kind in the mountains near Hines. It would seem, therefore,
that our inseription was made locally.
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